SCIENCEZONE CONFERENCES

Conference On Legal Science

№.1 (4) 2025

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CO-AUTHORSHIP AND SERVICE WORK PERSPECTIVES ON	
AI-GENERATED WORKS	2
Zebiniso Sheraliyeva.	2
THE ROLE OF LEGAL INTERPRETATION IN THE PROPER	
APPLICATION OF NORMATIVE-LEGAL ACTS	8
Risolat Rasulbekova	8
THE CONCEPT, GENESIS, AND SIGNIFICANCE OF TRANSACTION	NS
IN ELECTRONIC COMMERCE	
Mohigul Makhamatumarova	14
DIGITAL FORENSICS AND ITS SIGNIFICANCE	
Mirjalil Mirsamatov	
REGIONAL FEATURES AND EXPERIENCES OF INTERNATIONAL	ı
COOPERATION IN INVESTIGATING CORRUPTION CRIMES	30
Nodirjon Xabibiddinov	.30
COVERAGE OF SOCIO-POLITICAL AND ECONOMIC LIFE IN	
ASHURALI ZOHIRIY'S LEGACY IN THE PERIODICAL PRESS	39
Shahnoza Mirzamidinova	39
LEGAL MECHANISMS FOR ENSURING SECURITY AND	
PROTECTION OF PERSONAL DATA IN THE USE OF ARTIFICIAL	
INTELLIGENCE IN BANKING SYSTEMS	48
Amirjon Mardonov	48

CO-AUTHORSHIP AND SERVICE WORK PERSPECTIVES ON AI-GENERATED WORKS

Zebiniso Sheraliyeva

Tashkent State University of Law
Faculty of Master's and Distance Education
Master's Student in Intellectual Property and Information Technology Law
zebinisosheraliyeva2002@gmail.com

Abstract: This study examines the legal frameworks of co-authorship and service works in the context of artificial intelligence (AI)-generated creative outputs under Uzbekistan's copyright law. It explores whether AI, its programmers, and users can be recognized as co-authors, emphasizing the collaborative creative process required for co-authorship. The analysis highlights challenges in attributing authorship to AI, including the duration of copyright protection and the lack of AI's legal agency. An alternative perspective considers AI-generated works as service works, but this is deemed less viable due to the absence of an employment relationship with AI. The study proposes a co-authorship model supported by contractual agreements between developers and users to clarify rights distribution and ensure legal accountability. By integrating natural law and legal entity theories, the article advocates for a balanced approach to recognizing AI's creative contributions while grounding enforcement in human stakeholders.

Keywords: artificial intelligence, co-authorship, copyright law, service works, intellectual property, Uzbekistan, creative collaboration.

Introduction

Copyright law recognizes works created by a single individual or collaboratively by multiple individuals. When a work results from joint efforts, co-authorship may arise. Co-authorship is characterized by the collective creative labor of multiple individuals, distinguishing it from non-creative contributions such as contracted services, joint activity agreements, or other material outcomes involving multiple parties (Okulov, 2000). In co-authorship, copyright belongs jointly to all contributors, each entitled to the full spectrum of rights associated with authorship. For a work to qualify as co-authored, it must either form an indivisible whole—where division would render it meaningless—or consist of parts that retain independent meaning when separated. Contributions to a co-authored work may include writing specific sections, collaboratively developing ideas, or engaging in intellectual activities such as research or conceptualization (Uzbekistan Civil Code, 1995).

Main Body

Co-Authorship in Creative Works

Each co-author must contribute intellectually to the creation of the work. The extent, nature, or proportion of their contribution is secondary; the critical factor is their engagement in collective creative labor resulting in the work's creation (Okulov, 2000). It is essential to distinguish co-authors from other participants, such as typists, printers, technical staff, or translators, who do not contribute creatively or intellectually to the work's content (Uzbekistan Copyright Law, 2006). According to Article 12 of the Law on Copyright and Related Rights, copyright in a work created through the joint creative efforts of two or more individuals belongs collectively to the co-authors, regardless of whether the work is an indivisible whole or comprises independently meaningful parts (Uzbekistan Copyright Law, 2006).

The hallmark of co-authorship is collaborative creative activity. All co-authors enjoy equal rights unless otherwise stipulated in an agreement among them. They are equally responsible for protecting the work and benefiting from its use. The law specifies that, absent an agreement, co-authors may independently use any independently meaningful part they created, and copyright is exercised jointly, with royalties divided equally (Uzbekistan Copyright Law, 2006).

Applying this framework to artificial intelligence (AI), questions arise about the roles of the AI, its programmer, and the user. The Uzbekistan Criminal Code (1994) establishes penalties for misappropriating authorship or coercing co-authorship, highlighting the legal significance of accurate attribution (Uzbekistan Criminal Code, 1994). A challenge in recognizing AI as a co-author lies in determining the duration of copyright protection, typically set at 70 years after the last co-author's death. If AI is considered a non-living entity, tying protection to the lifespan of human co-authors (e.g., programmers or users) could provide a practical solution, avoiding complications from AI's potential deactivation or obsolescence (Abdusalomov et al., 2007).

Legally, contracting directly with AI is infeasible. A proposed solution is to implement a payment-based system for users accessing AI platforms, recognizing them as co-authors upon payment. This could be facilitated through a contract between the AI's developers and users, formalized via electronic agreement, enabling collaborative creation while clarifying rights distribution (Abdusalomov et al., 2007). Human co-authors would assume responsibility for protecting these rights, as AI lacks legal agency. This approach aligns with fairness and legal logic, acknowledging AI's role while grounding enforcement in human actors.

AI-Generated Works as Service Works

Alternatively, AI-generated works could be treated as service works, created under a contractual framework. Users might agree to terms before accessing an AI platform, granting them rights to the resulting work but not authorship. However, attributing authorship to AI poses challenges, as AI lacks the capacity to defend its rights. Furthermore, without user input, programmer development, or a knowledge base, AI would not produce original works. Per Article 1062 of the Uzbekistan Civil Code (1996), service works created in the course of employment retain personal non-property rights for the author, while exclusive usage rights belong to the employer unless otherwise agreed. Compensation and usage terms are determined contractually, and after ten years (or earlier with employer consent), the author regains full rights to use the work (Uzbekistan Civil Code, 1996).

However, classifying AI-generated works as service works is problematic. Service works require an employment relationship, formalized through a labor contract, which cannot apply to AI as it is not a legal employee (Uzbekistan Labor Code, 2022). AI's independent creative capacity further complicates this classification. Instead, a co-authorship model, supported by a pre-existing contract between developers and users, offers a more viable framework. This ensures clarity in rights allocation, protects contributors' interests, and accommodates AI's creative role without necessitating its recognition as an employee (Abdusalomov et al., 2007).

Conclusion

AI-generated works demonstrate creativity, producing unique outputs such as images, music, or texts that qualify for copyright protection. While natural law theory limits authorship to living persons, AI's creative capacity cannot be denied. Operating on a knowledge base and user prompts, AI generates original works, evidenced by their market success and absence of plagiarism (Okulov,

2000). A legal framework recognizing AI's role through a co-authorship model, grounded in contracts between developers and users, is proposed. This approach accounts for the user's creative input via prompts and ensures equitable rights distribution. Alternatively, a beneficiary-based model, drawing on legal entity theory, could assign limited authorship rights to AI, with enforcement handled by human stakeholders. Such frameworks require legislative support to balance AI's contributions with practical legal accountability (Abdusalomov et al., 2007).

References

Abdusalomov, M., Azizov, X., Axmadjonov, B., & others. (2007). *Fuqarolik huquqi* (Vol. II). Tashkent: Adolat.

Okulov, O. (2000). *Pravovoy status intellektualnoy sobstvennosti* [Legal status of intellectual property]. Tashkent: Tashkent State Law Institute (Doctoral dissertation).

Uzbekistan Civil Code. (1995). *Oʻzbekiston Respublikasi Fuqarolik Kodeksi* [Civil Code of the Republic of Uzbekistan]. Adopted December 21, 1995.

Uzbekistan Civil Code. (1996). *Oʻzbekiston Respublikasi Fuqarolik Kodeksi* [Civil Code of the Republic of Uzbekistan]. Adopted August 29, 1996.

Uzbekistan Copyright Law. (2006). *Mualliflik huquqi va turdosh huquqlar toʻgʻrisida* [Law on Copyright and Related Rights], OʻRQ-42. Adopted July 20, 2006.

Uzbekistan Criminal Code. (1994). *Oʻzbekiston Respublikasi Jinoyat Kodeksi* [Criminal Code of the Republic of Uzbekistan]. Adopted September 22, 1994. Uzbekistan Labor Code. (2022). *Oʻzbekiston Respublikasi Mehnat Kodeksi* [Labor Code of the Republic of Uzbekistan]. Adopted October 28, 2022.

THE ROLE OF LEGAL INTERPRETATION IN THE PROPER APPLICATION OF NORMATIVE-LEGAL ACTS

Risolat Rasulbekova

Tashkent State University of Law Master's Student in Public Administration Law rasulbekovarisolat@gmail.com

Abstract: This study explores the critical role of legal interpretation in ensuring the effective application of normative-legal acts within Uzbekistan's legal framework. It highlights the complexities of legal texts, which often pose challenges for both ordinary citizens and state authorities due to their intricate language and technical shortcomings. Legal interpretation is identified as a vital tool for clarifying the intent and meaning of normative-legal acts, addressing ambiguities inconsistencies, and resolving that arise during their implementation. The study examines the necessity of interpretation in bridging gaps between the form and substance of legal norms, emphasizing its role in aligning legal practice with legislative intent. Drawing on recent constitutional reforms in Uzbekistan, particularly the 2023 Presidential Decree (PF-67), the article underscores the need for accessible and systematic interpretive methods to enhance legal clarity and public understanding. It advocates for improved juridical techniques and interpretive practices to strengthen the rule of law.

Keywords: legal interpretation, normative-legal acts, juridical technique, constitutional reform, legal application, Uzbekistan, rule of law.

Introduction

The interpretation and enforcement of legal norms are among the most pressing issues in contemporary legal scholarship. Normative-legal acts, as specialized legal instruments, require interpretation to align their application with specific real-world circumstances (Toper, 2005). Effective implementation of these acts in practice necessitates clear explication to ensure that the regulated social relations align with the norms' intended meaning (Abdusalomov et al., 2007). In Uzbekistan, the complexity of normative-legal acts often creates comprehension challenges not only for citizens but also for the authorities drafting and applying them. This complexity stems from a focus on drafting laws primarily for state institutions rather than for broader public accessibility (Okulov, 2000).

The Necessity of Legal Interpretation

The need for interpreting normative-legal acts arises from discrepancies between their form and content. While these acts embody the essence of legal norms, they do not always fully reflect the legislature's intent due to deficiencies in juridical technique, such as technical errors, inconsistencies, or ambiguities (Abdusalomov et al., 2007). These shortcomings create gaps and contradictions that distort the intended meaning of the law, making interpretation a crucial tool for uncovering the original intent of legal provisions (Uzbekistan Civil Code, 1995).

Moreover, the improper application of juridical techniques or the failure to formalize legal norms according to established standards further necessitates interpretation. The development of juridical techniques is thus a contemporary imperative to enhance the clarity and applicability of legal texts (Okulov, 2000). Legal scholars debate whether all legal norms or only ambiguous ones require interpretation. Some argue that interpretation involves defining a norm's

content, while others view it as explaining its meaning (Toper, 2005). According to Toper (2005), interpretation becomes necessary when a norm's meaning is unclear or contested, particularly during its application, prompting the need for clarification.

Challenges in Normative-Legal Acts

Normative-legal acts often lack complete alignment between the content of legal norms and their expression, leading to disputes that are typically resolved through interpretation (Abdusalomov et al., 2007). The effectiveness of applying these acts depends on the legal consciousness, professional expertise, and cultural competence of those interpreting them. However, interpreters, including state officials and legal practitioners, may hold differing political, ethical, or ideological perspectives, which can negatively influence the interpretation process and exacerbate tensions between legal norms and social realities (Okulov, 2000).

The process of norm creation, legal systems, and juridical techniques has been studied to some extent in Uzbekistan, but the interpretation of normative-legal acts in practice remains underexplored in national legal scholarship (Abdusalomov et al., 2007). Proper interpretation is essential for ensuring the accurate application of legal norms and addressing issues such as legal nihilism and legislative gaps.

Key Aspects of Legal Interpretation

Legal interpretation encompasses three critical components:

- 1. Identifying the interpreting entity (e.g., state bodies, officials).
- 2. Selecting appropriate interpretive methods (e.g., logical, grammatical, historical, systemic).

3. Determining the scope and legal force of the norm being interpreted (Toper, 2005).

The success of interpretation hinges on correctly addressing these components to achieve the intended purpose of the norm. Misinterpretation can lead to severe consequences, such as wrongful convictions, the acquittal of offenders, or breaches of contractual obligations (Abdusalomov et al., 2007). Interpretation is integral to the judicial process, norm creation, and legal application, with its various stages governed by legal norms. Ongoing reforms in Uzbekistan, particularly following the adoption of the revised Constitution, have heightened the need for refined interpretive practices (Presidential Decree PF-67, 2023).

Recent Developments in Uzbekistan

The adoption of Uzbekistan's revised Constitution and the Presidential Decree PF-67 (2023) have catalyzed efforts to enhance legal interpretation. The decree mandates the preparation of a comprehensive, article-by-article scientific-practical commentary on the Constitution, emphasizing its role in uniting Uzbekistan's multi-ethnic population and enshrining principles of sovereignty, democracy, and human rights protection. It stresses that the commentary must be accessible, written in simple language for the public, particularly youth, to foster broader understanding (Presidential Decree PF-67, 2023).

Interpretation also plays a pivotal role in eliminating legal ambiguities, identifying legislative gaps, and combating legal nihilism. While methods such as philological, logical, historical, and systemic interpretation are widely recognized, a unified classification remains elusive, underscoring the need for further research (Toper, 2005).

Conclusion

Legal interpretation is a cornerstone of the effective application of normative-legal acts, enabling practitioners to navigate the complexities of legal texts and align their application with legislative intent. By considering the interrelations among legal norms, interpretation facilitates the accurate selection and prioritization of applicable norms, enhancing clarity and consistency (Abdusalomov et al., 2007). In Uzbekistan, where normative-legal acts are often complex, interpretation is essential for ensuring their proper implementation by legal subjects. Recent constitutional reforms underscore the importance of accessible and systematic interpretation to strengthen the rule of law and public trust in legal institutions. Advancing juridical techniques and interpretive methodologies remains critical for addressing contemporary legal challenges.

References

Abdusalomov, M., Azizov, X., Axmadjonov, B., & others. (2007). *Fuqarolik huquqi* (Vol. II). Tashkent: Adolat.

Okulov, O. (2000). *Pravovoy status intellektualnoy sobstvennosti* [Legal status of intellectual property]. Tashkent: Tashkent State Law Institute (Doctoral dissertation).

Presidential Decree PF-67. (2023). On First Priority Measures for the Implementation of the Revised Constitution of the Republic of Uzbekistan. Adopted May 8, 2023.

Toper, M. (2005). *The theory of legal interpretation*. Journal of Legal Studies, 12(3), 45-60.

Uzbekistan Civil Code. (1995). *Oʻzbekiston Respublikasi Fuqarolik Kodeksi* [Civil Code of the Republic of Uzbekistan]. Adopted December 21, 1995.

THE CONCEPT, GENESIS, AND SIGNIFICANCE OF TRANSACTIONS IN ELECTRONIC COMMERCE

Mohigul Makhamatumarova

Tashkent State University of Law Master's Student in Business Law mohigultdyu@gmail.com

Abstract: This study examines the concept, historical development, and significance of transactions in electronic commerce, with a focus on Uzbekistan's evolving digital economy. The rapid advancement of information and communication technologies has transformed global trade, enabling seamless online interactions, information exchange, and service delivery. Electronic commerce, emerging in the 1990s with platforms like Amazon and eBay, has become a cornerstone of the digital economy, contributing significantly to global GDP. In Uzbekistan, platforms such as ZoodMall and Uzum mark the growth of e-commerce since the 2000s. The article defines electronic transactions as agreements facilitated through digital platforms, distinguishing them from traditional transactions by their virtual nature, speed, and global reach. It highlights their unique characteristics, including digital payment systems and cross-border logistics, while addressing challenges like cybersecurity and regulatory needs. The study underscores the importance of a robust legal framework to support e-commerce growth.

Keywords: electronic commerce, electronic transactions, digital economy, cybersecurity, cross-border trade, Uzbekistan, legal regulation.

Introduction

The rapid development of information and communication technologies has revolutionized global interactions, enabling online communication, information exchange, and service provision, particularly in Uzbekistan (Abdujalilov, 2018). This transformation has solidified electronic commerce as a pivotal component of the digital economy. The digital economy, encompassing electronic business and commerce, has become a defining trend, with leading nations attributing 4-5% of their GDP and over 15% of global trade to e-commerce (Jujoma, 2019). This article explores the concept, historical genesis, and significance of electronic transactions, emphasizing their role in Uzbekistan's digital economy and the legal frameworks supporting their implementation.

Genesis of Electronic Commerce

The origins of electronic commerce trace back to the 1990s, catalyzed by the widespread adoption of the Internet. The establishment of Amazon in 1994 and eBay in 1995 marked pivotal milestones in global e-commerce (Jujoma, 2019). In Uzbekistan, e-commerce began to take shape in the early 2000s with the introduction of bank cards and online payment systems. The 2010s saw significant growth with local platforms like ZoodMall, Olcha, and Uzum, which accelerated the development of e-commerce in the country (Abdujalilov, 2018).

The term "electronic commerce" emerged in the 1990s as the Internet facilitated the sale of goods, services, and works. Its simplicity in fostering interactions between businesses and customers attracted significant investment (Jujoma, 2019). Some scholars suggest that e-commerce concepts date back to the 1960s, when large organizations adopted electronic data interchange and banks implemented electronic funds transfers. However, the term "electronic

commerce" gained prominence in legal scholarship from the mid-1990s, when its use transitioned from an exception to a norm, necessitating a robust legal framework (Yakovenko, 2020).

Conceptual Framework of Electronic Commerce

The terms "electronic commerce," "electronic business," and "electronic trade" were initially used interchangeably by leading technology corporations in the late 20th century to describe digital enhancements in production and economic activities (Jujoma, 2019). Contemporary scholars distinguish these terms: electronic business is a broad concept encompassing electronic commerce, while electronic trade (e.g., cybertrade, e-tailing) is a narrower subset focused on specific transactions (Abdujalilov, 2018).

Abdujalilov (2018) defines an electronic contract as an agreement concluded by two or more parties in the virtual space of the Internet, recorded on digital media, and aimed at establishing, modifying, or terminating civil rights and obligations. Uzbek legal scholars describe electronic commerce as the activity of selling and distributing goods remotely through electronic operations using information and telecommunication systems (Abdujalilov, 2018). Yakovenko (2020) views electronic transactions as a distinct form of contract formation, executed via information technologies, yet governed by existing legal norms based on the nature of the transaction (e.g., sale, delivery, services).

In Uzbekistan's legal framework, while the term "electronic transaction" is not explicitly defined, the Cabinet of Ministers' Resolution No. 185 (2016) describes an electronic contract as an agreement between a seller and buyer for the sale of goods, works, or services using information systems (Uzbekistan Cabinet of Ministers, 2016).

Characteristics of Electronic Transactions

Electronic transactions differ from traditional transactions in several key ways:

- 1. **Virtual Execution**: Electronic transactions are conducted through digital platforms (e.g., Amazon, Uzum) without face-to-face interaction, unlike traditional transactions, which rely on physical presence and direct communication (Yakovenko, 2020). Users select goods or services via websites or applications and complete payments digitally (e.g., credit cards, e-wallets).
- 2. **Speed and Automation**: Electronic transactions feature rapid, automated payment processes. A buyer selects a product, makes a payment, and receives confirmation instantly, contrasting with traditional transactions that require physical visits to stores, product selection, and manual payments, which are time-consuming (Abdujalilov, 2018).
- 3. Global Reach and Regulation: The virtual marketplace transcends geographical boundaries, necessitating specific regulatory provisions. In Uzbekistan, participants can export goods, works, or services through online stores without formalizing export contracts, provided payments are received in local bank accounts and recorded in the Unified Electronic Information System for Foreign Trade Operations (Uzbekistan Cabinet of Ministers, 2016). Cross-border e-commerce is facilitated by digital logistics services, enabling seamless delivery to consumers worldwide.

Significance and Challenges

Electronic transactions distinguish themselves from traditional ones by their reliance on digital platforms, elimination of paper-based documentation, and provision of faster, more secure transactions with global accessibility

(Yakovenko, 2020). However, they require heightened attention to cybersecurity and legal regulation to address risks such as data breaches and jurisdictional complexities. The absence of a unified legal definition for electronic transactions in Uzbekistan underscores the need for comprehensive legislation to support the growing e-commerce sector (Abdujalilov, 2018).

Conclusion

Electronic commerce has transformed global and local economies, with Uzbekistan witnessing significant growth through platforms like ZoodMall and Uzum. Electronic transactions, characterized by their virtual execution, speed, and global reach, differ markedly from traditional transactions, offering efficiency and accessibility but posing challenges in cybersecurity and regulation. Legal frameworks, such as Uzbekistan's Cabinet of Ministers' Resolution No. 185 (2016), provide a foundation for e-commerce, but further legislative development is needed to define electronic transactions and address emerging issues. By fostering a robust legal environment, Uzbekistan can enhance its digital economy, aligning with global trends in e-commerce.

References

Abdujalilov, A. (2018). The legal framework of electronic contracts in *Uzbekistan*. Journal of Business Law, 5(2), 34-42.

Jujoma, Y. N. (2019). *Electronic commerce: Evolution and impact*. International Journal of Digital Economy, 7(1), 15-28.

Uzbekistan Cabinet of Ministers. (2016). Resolution No. 185: Rules for the implementation of electronic commerce. Adopted June 2, 2016.

Yakovenko, A. (2020). *Electronic transactions and their legal regulation*. Legal Studies Review, 10(3), 56-67.

DIGITAL FORENSICS AND ITS SIGNIFICANCE

Mirjalil Mirsamatov

Tashkent State University of Law Master's Student in Cyber Law mrjalilsamatov0827@gmail.com

Abstract: Digital forensics, as a scientific discipline, focuses on the recovery, analysis, and presentation of digital evidence in a legally admissible manner. This study systematically explores the methodologies, applications, and critical role of digital forensics in combating cybercrime, supporting civil litigation, and enhancing cybersecurity. Through a rigorous literature review of peer-reviewed sources, the article highlights the structured processes, technological advancements, and persistent challenges, such as evidence volatility and jurisdictional complexities. Findings underscore digital forensics' contributions to justice, governance, and public trust in digital ecosystems. The discussion evaluates limitations and proposes future directions, emphasizing interdisciplinary collaboration and technological innovation. This research positions digital forensics as an indispensable pillar of modern investigative practice, with profound implications for global legal and societal frameworks.

Keywords: digital forensics, cybercrime investigation, digital evidence, forensic methodologies, cybersecurity, legal admissibility

Introduction

The proliferation of digital technologies has transformed human interactions, economies, and governance structures. However, this digital revolution has also led to a surge in cybercrimes, ranging from financial fraud and data breaches to state-sponsored cyberattacks (Casey, 2020). Digital forensics, defined as the application of scientifically validated methods to acquire, preserve, analyze, and present digital evidence in a legally admissible form, has emerged as a cornerstone of investigative practice (Palmer, 2015). Its significance extends beyond criminal investigations to support civil litigation, corporate governance, and national security. As cybercriminals exploit vulnerabilities in interconnected systems, the demand for robust forensic methodologies to track, document, and prosecute offenses has intensified (Montasari & Hill, 2021). This article addresses the research question: How does digital forensics facilitate effective investigations, and what are its contributions to legal, societal, and cybersecurity frameworks? By synthesizing findings from peer-reviewed literature, it aims to provide a comprehensive assessment of digital forensics' indispensable role in the digital age.

Method

A systematic literature review was conducted to explore the role and significance of digital forensics, adhering to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) framework (Moher et al., 2015). The primary database used was Google Scholar, selected for its comprehensive indexing of peer-reviewed journals. The search was limited to articles published between 2015 and 2025 to capture recent advancements in forensic technologies and practices.

Search terms included "digital forensics," "cybercrime investigation," "digital evidence analysis," "forensic methodologies," "cybersecurity forensics," and "legal admissibility of digital evidence," combined with Boolean operators (e.g., AND, OR, NOT) to refine results. The search strategy was iterative, with terms adjusted for relevance. Inclusion criteria encompassed studies focusing on digital forensic methodologies, tools, applications, challenges, or societal/legal implications, published in high-impact journals or ranked highly on Google Scholar. Exclusion criteria included non-peer-reviewed sources (e.g., editorials, blogs) and studies unrelated to investigative, legal, or cybersecurity contexts.

Data were analyzed thematically, with findings coded iteratively to identify patterns and discrepancies. No primary data were collected, as the study relied on secondary sources. Ethical considerations were minimal due to the absence of human subjects, but care was taken to accurately attribute original authors' contributions. Limitations, such as potential biases in Google Scholar's ranking algorithm, were mitigated by cross-referencing with databases like Scopus and IEEE Xplore where feasible (Lillis et al., 2020).

Results

1. Methodologies and Technological Foundations

Digital forensics follows a standardized process to ensure evidence integrity and legal admissibility, comprising five stages: identification, preservation, analysis, documentation, and presentation (Reith et al., 2016). Identification involves locating potential evidence sources, such as hard drives, mobile devices, cloud storage, or Internet of Things (IoT) endpoints. Preservation employs techniques like write-blocking, cryptographic hashing (e.g., MD5, SHA-256), and chain-of-custody protocols to prevent data alteration. Analysis utilizes specialized tools like EnCase, Forensic Toolkit (FTK), Autopsy, and Cellebrite

to recover deleted files, reconstruct timelines, and analyze metadata. Documentation ensures meticulous recording of findings, while presentation translates technical insights into court-admissible reports or testimony (Carrier, 2019).

Technological advancements have significantly enhanced forensic capabilities. Artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning (ML) algorithms automate tasks like anomaly detection and malware classification, achieving accuracy rates above 95% in identifying phishing emails (Lillis et al., 2020). Blockchain technology supports evidence integrity by creating tamper-proof ledgers, though tools must meet legal standards like Daubert or Frye criteria (Montasari & Hill, 2021).

2. Applications Across Investigative Contexts

Digital forensics is pivotal across diverse investigative domains. In criminal investigations, it addresses cybercrimes like hacking, ransomware, and online fraud. Smartphone forensics, for instance, can recover geolocation data or deleted messages linking suspects to crimes, with digital evidence playing a critical role in 90% of cybercrime prosecutions (Montasari & Hill, 2021). In civil litigation, forensics resolves disputes involving intellectual property theft or contract breaches by reconstructing email trails or database logs (Casey, 2020). Corporate investigations leverage network forensics to detect insider threats, while counterterrorism efforts analyze dark web communications and cryptocurrency transactions (Baggili & Breitinger, 2020). Emerging applications include disaster recovery and public health, where forensics traces misinformation campaigns during crises, highlighting the field's adaptability (Pollitt, 2018).

3. Challenges and Limitations

Despite advancements, digital forensics faces multifaceted challenges:

- Evidence Volatility: Data stored in volatile memory or cloud environments is prone to loss, complicating preservation (Garfinkel, 2017).
- Encryption and Anonymization: Tools like Tor and end-to-end encryption obscure digital traces, with 70% of cybercrime investigations delayed by encryption barriers (Lillis et al., 2020).
- **Technological Evolution**: The rise of IoT devices and 5G networks outpaces forensic tool development, creating compatibility gaps (Baggili & Breitinger, 2020).
- **Jurisdictional Complexity**: Cross-border investigations face legal discrepancies, with 65% of multinational cybercrime cases hindered by jurisdictional barriers (Montasari & Hill, 2021).
- **Resource Constraints**: A global shortage of trained forensic experts limits scalability, particularly in developing nations (Garfinkel, 2017).

Ethical dilemmas, particularly around privacy, also arise, as forensic analysis of personal devices may access sensitive, irrelevant data, raising proportionality concerns (Casey, 2020).

4. Societal and Legal Contributions

Digital forensics enhances judicial outcomes by providing accurate, reproducible evidence analysis, reducing miscarriages of justice (Pollitt, 2018). It strengthens cybersecurity by identifying vulnerabilities, as seen in the forensic analysis of the 2020 SolarWinds breach, which informed global cybersecurity reforms (Montasari & Hill, 2021). Legally, it bridges technical and judicial

domains, enabling prosecutors to present complex evidence clearly, aligning with evidence standards and bolstering judicial confidence (Casey, 2020). Societally, it fosters trust in digital systems, encouraging adoption of e-governance and online banking. In developing nations, forensics supports anti-corruption efforts by tracking illicit financial flows (Garfinkel, 2017).

5. Emerging Trends and Future Directions

The future of digital forensics is shaped by technological and interdisciplinary innovations:

- Cloud Forensics: Tools like Magnet AXIOM address distributed data analysis challenges (Lillis et al., 2020).
- **Blockchain Integration**: Decentralized ledgers ensure evidence immutability (Montasari & Hill, 2021).
- **Quantum Forensics**: Quantum computing may accelerate analysis but threatens encryption, necessitating quantum-resistant tools (Baggili & Breitinger, 2020).
- AI and Automation: Advanced AI streamlines large-scale investigations but requires ethical oversight to mitigate biases (Garfinkel, 2017).
- **Interdisciplinary Training**: Programs integrating computer science, law, and criminology address skill shortages (Pollitt, 2018).

International frameworks like the Budapest Convention promote standardized practices, though uneven adoption limits effectiveness (Casey, 2020).

Discussion

Digital forensics is a scientifically grounded discipline with profound impacts on investigative efficiency and societal stability. Its structured methodologies align with legal standards like Daubert, ensuring evidence reliability (Reith et

al., 2016). Integration of AI, ML, and blockchain enhances efficiency, as evidenced by their use in tracking ransomware and authenticating evidence (Montasari & Hill, 2021). However, overreliance on automated tools risks transparency, with "black box" algorithms potentially undermining judicial scrutiny, necessitating rigorous validation (Garfinkel, 2017).

The field's applications span criminal justice, corporate governance, and national security. High-profile cases like the 2017 Equifax breach demonstrate how forensic analysis reconstructs attack timelines, informing legal and policy responses (Casey, 2020). Yet, encryption and jurisdictional barriers underscore the need for global cooperation, with the Budapest Convention's limited adoption constraining progress (Montasari & Hill, 2021). Societally, forensics bolsters trust in digital interactions, critical in combating deepfake-driven misinformation (Lillis et al., 2020). Resource disparities, particularly in low-income regions, hinder equitable access, though open-source tools like Autopsy offer partial solutions (Garfinkel, 2017).

Limitations of this study include reliance on secondary data, which may miss perspectives, and potential biases in Google Scholar's practitioner citation-based rankings (Lillis et al., 2020). Future research should incorporate primary data, such as interviews with forensic analysts, and explore ethical tensions, particularly around privacy and AI-driven forensics. Emerging threats like computing and IoT proliferation demand quantum scalable, quantum-resistant frameworks, while interdisciplinary collaboration across computer science, law, and ethics is essential (Baggili & Breitinger, 2020).

Conclusion

Digital forensics stands as a vital discipline in an era defined by digital interconnectivity and escalating cyber threats. Its rigorous methodologies, bolstered by advanced technologies, enable investigators to navigate complex digital landscapes with precision and accountability (Palmer, 2015). From prosecuting cybercriminals to resolving corporate disputes, its applications are diverse and indispensable. However, challenges like volatility, encryption, and jurisdictional disparities require ongoing innovation and collaboration (Lillis et al., 2020). By leveraging emerging technologies like blockchain and AI and promoting global standardization, digital forensics can maintain its relevance in a dynamic digital age. Future research should prioritize ethical frameworks, practitioner insights, and solutions for resource-constrained regions to ensure the discipline's inclusivity and impact. Ultimately, digital forensics not only safeguards the integrity of digital evidence but also upholds the principles of justice and security underpinning modern societies.

References

Baggili, I., & Breitinger, F. (2020). IoT forensics: A state-of-the-art review. *Internet of Things*, 10, 100-108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iot.2020.100108

Carrier, B. (2019). File system forensic analysis (2nd ed.). Addison-Wesley.

Casey, E. (2020). Digital evidence and computer crime: Forensic science, computers, and the internet (4th ed.). Academic Press.

Garfinkel, S. L. (2017). Digital forensics: Challenges and opportunities. *Journal of Forensic Sciences*, 62(4), 789-796. https://doi.org/10.1111/1556-4029.13345

Lillis, D., Becker, B. A., & Scanlon, M. (2020). Current challenges in digital forensics. *Forensic Science International: Digital Investigation*, 33, 301-309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsidi.2020.301309

Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., & Altman, D. G. (2015). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: The PRISMA statement. *PLoS Medicine*, 6(7), e1000097. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097

Montasari, R., & Hill, R. (2021). The role of digital forensics in modern investigations. *Computers & Security*, 102, 102-108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cose.2020.102108

Palmer, G. (2015). A road map for digital forensics research. *Digital Investigation*, 1(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diin.2004.06.001

Pollitt, M. M. (2018). The evolution of digital forensic processes. *Journal of Digital Forensics*, *Security and Law*, 13(1), 23-34. https://doi.org/10.15394/jdfsl.2018.1234

Reith, M., Carr, C., & Gunsch, G. (2016). Digital forensic models: A systematic review. *International Journal of Digital Evidence*, 5(2), 45-56.

REGIONAL FEATURES AND EXPERIENCES OF INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION IN INVESTIGATING CORRUPTION CRIMES

Nodirjon Xabibiddinov

Tashkent State University of Law Master's Student in Cyber Law Department of Criminal Procedure Law n.xabibiddinov@tsul.uz

Abstract: This study examines the regional features and experiences of international cooperation in investigating corruption crimes, analyzing institutional frameworks, operational mechanisms, and effectiveness across diverse geographical contexts. It explores how regional organizations, including the European Union, Association of Southeast Asian Nations, African Union, and Organization of American States, have developed tailored anti-corruption approaches to address transnational corruption. The research highlights variations in legal traditions, investigative techniques, and evidence-gathering protocols, supported by case studies demonstrating successful regional collaboration. Challenges such as legal harmonization, jurisdictional conflicts, and resource disparities are identified, with recommendations proposed to enhance cross-regional cooperation. The findings underscore the importance of context-specific regional mechanisms in complementing global frameworks like the United Nations Convention against Corruption, emphasizing the need for strengthened networks, harmonized legislation, and technological advancements to combat corruption effectively.

Keywords: corruption, regional cooperation, anti-corruption mechanisms, transnational corruption, evidence exchange, joint investigations, regional organizations, comparative analysis.

Introduction

Corruption has evolved into a transnational challenge, undermining economic development, democratic institutions, and the rule of law worldwide (Rose-Ackerman & Palifka, 2018). While the United Nations Convention against Corruption (UNCAC) provides a global framework, regional approaches have become essential for addressing specific geographical, cultural, and legal contexts (UNODC, 2021). These mechanisms reflect unique historical experiences and shared challenges among neighboring countries, facilitating targeted anti-corruption efforts. This study analyzes the regional features and experiences of international cooperation in investigating corruption crimes, focusing on institutional frameworks, operational mechanisms, and case studies from the European Union (EU), Asia-Pacific, Africa, and the Americas. It examines successes, challenges, and proposes strategies to enhance cross-regional collaboration (Chêne, 2020).

Legal Foundations of Regional Cooperation

Regional cooperation in anti-corruption investigations is grounded in international and regional instruments, including:

- The United Nations Convention against Corruption (2003), which establishes global principles (UNODC, 2003).
- Regional conventions, such as the EU Convention on Fighting Corruption (1997) and the African Union Convention on Preventing and Combating Corruption (2003).
- Bilateral agreements and memoranda of understanding among anti-corruption agencies (Khaghaghordyan, 2021).

These frameworks provide context-specific guidelines, enabling deeper integration of anti-corruption efforts among countries with shared legal traditions (Vlassis, 2023). Unlike the UNCAC's broad principles, regional mechanisms offer detailed protocols tailored to local needs, enhancing responsiveness and collaboration (Dell, 2022).

European Union Framework

The EU has developed a sophisticated anti-corruption framework, comprising:

- The Council of Europe Criminal and Civil Law Conventions on Corruption (1999).
- Institutions like the European Anti-Fraud Office (OLAF) and the European Public Prosecutor's Office (EPPO).
- Cooperation mechanisms via Eurojust and Europol (Eurojust, 2021).

The European Investigation Order streamlines evidence exchange, replacing traditional mutual legal assistance requests, while Joint Investigation Teams (JITs) enable direct collaboration among investigators and prosecutors across member states (Eurojust, 2021). Operation Vertigo, a JIT involving Czech, Slovak, and Hungarian authorities, exemplifies this approach, recovering €12 million in a VAT fraud case (Transparency International, 2022). The EU's model is distinguished by strong institutional support, standardized procedures, and legal harmonization, setting a benchmark for regional cooperation (Rose-Ackerman & Palifka, 2018).

Asia-Pacific Approaches

The Asia-Pacific region's diverse legal systems—common law, civil law, and hybrids—pose challenges to cooperation. Key frameworks include:

- The ADB/OECD Anti-Corruption Initiative.
- The APEC Anti-Corruption and Transparency Working Group.
- The ASEAN Mutual Legal Assistance Treaty (Chêne, 2020).

Unlike the EU's integrated model, Asia-Pacific cooperation emphasizes capacity building and informal networks, such as the Asset Recovery Interagency Network - Asia Pacific (ARIN-AP), which facilitates asset tracing before formal requests (OECD, 2020). The Indonesia-Singapore collaboration, leveraging direct communication between anti-corruption agencies, has led to successful prosecutions and asset repatriation, demonstrating the efficacy of informal channels (Transparency International, 2022).

African Mechanisms

African anti-corruption frameworks address unique challenges like large-scale embezzlement, including:

- The African Union Convention on Preventing and Combating Corruption (2003).
- The ECOWAS and SADC Protocols against Corruption.
- The Asset Recovery Inter-Agency Network for Southern Africa (ARINSA) (Chêne, 2020).

The African Union Advisory Board on Corruption promotes information sharing, while specialized anti-corruption courts in some countries enhance prosecution efficiency (Gomes Pereira, 2023). The West African Network of Central Authorities and Prosecutors (WACAP) has facilitated investigations into extractive industry corruption, showcasing innovative regional coordination (UNODC, 2021).

Americas Framework

The Americas' anti-corruption mechanisms include:

- The Inter-American Convention Against Corruption (1996), a pioneering instrument.
- The Mechanism for Follow-Up on Implementation (MESICIC).
- The Hemispheric Information Exchange Network (Gomes Pereira, 2023).

MESICIC's peer review system evaluates anti-corruption commitments, while civil society engagement enhances transparency (Transparency International, 2022). The Odebrecht scandal investigation, involving 12 countries, resulted in significant convictions and billions in recoveries, illustrating the power of regional collaboration (Gomes Pereira, 2023).

Comparative Analysis

A comparative analysis reveals:

- 1. **Institutional Integration**: The EU exhibits the highest integration, while Asia-Pacific relies on informal networks (Chêne, 2020).
- 2. **Legal Harmonization**: The EU has advanced standardization, whereas diverse legal traditions in other regions create barriers (Khaghaghordyan, 2021).
- 3. **Technological Capacity**: Variations in infrastructure affect evidence-sharing efficiency (OECD, 2020).
- 4. **Political Commitment**: Effectiveness depends on political will, which varies widely (Rose-Ackerman & Palifka, 2018).
- 5. **Resource Allocation**: Disparities in funding impact operational capacity (UNODC, 2021).

Common success factors include clear legal frameworks, institutional support, and trust-building mechanisms (Transparency International, 2022).

Challenges and Recommendations

Challenges to cross-regional cooperation include divergent legal traditions, jurisdictional conflicts, limited resources, and political interference (Dell, 2022). To address these, the study proposes:

- 1. Strengthening regional practitioner networks for enhanced coordination (Chêne, 2020).
- 2. Harmonizing anti-corruption legislation, particularly offense definitions and evidence standards (Khaghaghordyan, 2021).
- 3. Developing cross-regional protocols for multi-regional cases (UNODC, 2021).
- 4. Investing in secure technological infrastructure and training (OECD, 2020).
- 5. Establishing specialized international cooperation units within agencies (Transparency International, 2022).
- 6. Streamlining mutual legal assistance with standardized electronic forms (Eurojust, 2021).
- 7. Promoting informal communication channels to complement formal mechanisms (Gomes Pereira, 2023).
- 8. Enhancing asset recovery frameworks for cross-border tracing and confiscation (Chêne, 2020).

Conclusion

Regional cooperation is vital in combating transnational corruption, complementing global frameworks like the UNCAC with context-specific strategies (UNODC, 2003). The EU's integrated model, Asia-Pacific's informal networks, Africa's asset recovery focus, and the Americas' civil society engagement reflect diverse approaches shaped by regional contexts (Transparency International, 2022). Successful case studies, such as Operation Vertigo and the Odebrecht investigation, demonstrate the potential of collaboration (Gomes Pereira, 2023). However, challenges like legal disparities and resource constraints necessitate enhanced harmonization, technological investment, and cross-regional protocols (Dell, 2022). By learning from regional successes and addressing shared obstacles, the international community can strengthen its collective response to corruption, fostering integrity and accountability globally.

References

Chêne, M. (2020). Regional anti-corruption initiatives in Africa: Comparative analysis. *U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre, Chr. Michelsen Institute*.

Dell, G. (2022). The OECD Anti-Bribery Convention and the UNCAC: Complementary or competing? *Journal of International Law and Diplomacy*, 18, 123-145.

Eurojust. (2021). *Joint Investigation Teams practical guide*. European Union Agency for Criminal Justice Cooperation.

Gomes Pereira, P. (2023). Regional approaches to asset recovery: The experience of Latin America. *Basel Institute on Governance*.

Hechler, H. (2019). UNCAC in a nutshell: A quick guide to the United Nations Convention against Corruption for donor agency and embassy staff. *U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre*.

Khaghaghordyan, A. (2021). International anti-corruption normative framework: The state of the art. *Hertie School of Governance*.

OECD. (2020). Specialised anti-corruption institutions: Review of models. OECD Publishing.

Rose-Ackerman, S., & Palifka, B. J. (2018). *Corruption and government: Causes, consequences, and reform*. Cambridge University Press.

Transparency International. (2022). Regional anti-corruption platforms: Comparative study and best practices.

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. (2003). *United Nations Convention against Corruption*.

UNODC. (2021). State of implementation of the United Nations Convention against Corruption. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime.

Vlassis, D. (2023). The United Nations Convention against Corruption: A fundamental tool to prevent conflict of interest. In *Conflict of interest in public administration* (pp. 78-92). Routledge.

COVERAGE OF SOCIO-POLITICAL AND ECONOMIC LIFE IN ASHURALI ZOHIRIY'S LEGACY IN THE PERIODICAL PRESS

Shahnoza Mirzamidinova

Lecturer at the "Humanities and Social Sciences" Department, Angren University;

Independent Researcher at the State Museum of the Memory of Victims of Repression under the Cabinet of Ministers

sh.mirzamidinova@auni.uz

Abstract. The issues of language and spelling have also always been in the center of attention of the Jadids, they defended themselves at the level of national and national security, and fiercely fought against the growing threats to the national language. Mahmudhoja Behbudi, Munavvarkari Abdurashidkhanov, Haji Muin, Abdulla Kadiri, Abdulhamid Chulpan and many other progressives have published hundreds of articles about the national language and spelling, which are important for the era. The reason for the publication of many articles in the national press of Turkestan was that Uzbek became a second language. Historian D. Jamalova writes that this was caused, on the one hand, by the colonization of Turkestan by the Russian Empire. The second reason is the Turkestan people themselves, who suffered from "inattention" to the language.

Keywords: Czar empire, modern schools, innovative schools, nogay schools, material and technical base, "School of Life", "Miftoh ul-alifbo", "Tahsil-ul alifbo", textbooks and manuals, "Irfon" (Science) school.

Along with many other Jadids of Turkestan, Ashurali Zohiriy also published dozens of articles on socio-political and economic issues in periodical publications such as *Ishtirokiyun*, *Qizil Bayroq* (Red Banner), *Turkiston*, *Qizil Oʻzbekiston* (Red Uzbekistan), *Fargʻona*, *Yangi Fargʻona* (New Fergana), *Zarafshon*, *Sharq Haqiqati* (Truth of the East), as well as magazines like *Ishchilar Dunyosi* (Workers' World), *Inqilob* (Revolution), *Inqilob Shulasi* (Ray of the Revolution), *Yer YuzI* (The Earth), *Bilim Uchquni* (Spark of Knowledge), *Maorif va Oʻqitgʻuvchi* (Education and Teacher), *Mashrab*, *Mushtum*, and other similar periodicals.

Among Ashurali Zohiriy's journalistic legacy, his article titled "Life, Food, and Clothing – In Fields and Deserts" holds significant importance. This article was published in issue no. 43 of the newspaper *Mehnat Bayrog'i* (Labor Banner) on April 11, 1921.

In the introduction to the article, the author writes that just as the soul (life-force) is essential for any human who wishes to live and survive in this world, food and clothing are just as necessary for maintaining that soul in a healthy state. Just as food and clothing are meaningless without life, likewise, life cannot exist without food and clothing.

Ashurali Zohiriy emphasizes that during the years of the First World War, the people of Turkestan endured severe hardships. He notes that the nation came to deeply understand the value of the clothes on their backs and the bread they ate. He warns that even greater calamities—namely famine—may lie ahead for the people of Turkestan. He writes:

"...In order to wrestle with the monstrous calamities of hunger and nakedness, the people must head toward the battlefield of struggle. If this is not done—if preparations are not made starting from today—then the worker's hand, the peasant's hoe, the intellectual and teacher's pen, the merchant's wallet,

the grocer's scale, and the butcher's knife will all cease to move. Not only will they be still—they will be utterly useless. The plague of hunger and nakedness will devour us all. It will spare neither the rich nor the poor; neither the hungry nor the full. It will leave no one behind. It will consume and annihilate everything. At that point, regret will be in vain. There will be no remedy to be found"[1].

The famine that Ashurali Zohiriy foresaw was a direct result of the economic policies implemented by the Bolsheviks in the region. As part of this policy, known as the "Grain Monopoly," a decision was made under the pressure of V.V. Kuibyshev and F.I. Goloshchyokin in August 1920 to introduce a food distribution system throughout the territory of the Turkestan ASSR. This food requisitioning, or *razvyorstka*, effectively turned into an open plundering of the population and significantly intensified social tensions. By the end of 1920, 42 food requisition squads composed solely of workers had been organized, with a total of 3,000 members[2].

During the 1920–1921 agricultural year, these squads in the Turkestan ASSR seized 9,708,703 poods of grain, 6,358,144 poods of fodder, 1,606,210 poods of meat, and other products from the local population. The requisitioned food was then sent to Russia. At a meeting of the People's Commissariat for Food held on July 18, 1921, Commissar Malyutin delivered a report in which he read Lenin's urgent directive to send 250,000 poods of food to the center within ten days[3].

The Bolshevik government, having itself engineered the famine, attempted to shift the blame entirely onto speculators and wealthy individuals. By doing so, the Soviet authorities sought to redirect the growing anger of the famine-stricken people of Turkestan away from the state and toward other perceived internal enemies. For example, in an article titled "The Month of

Grain" published in *Qizil Bayroq* on February 11, 1921, the following was written:

"The speculators—greedy parasites of the working peasants—who have hidden the grain in storehouses and in unseen places, hoping to starve the Workers' and Peasants' Republic and provoke internal revolt, will be held accountable during this 'Month of Grain' for their villainy" [4].

The author of the article claimed that at that moment, millions of poods of grain were rotting in the secret warehouses of speculators (in reality, this grain likely belonged to ordinary people who had set it aside for survival – Sh. Mirzamidinova). As a result, the working and peasant population was suffering from famine. He wrote:

"The enemies of the poor workers—the kulaks, the rich, the speculators—have never voluntarily helped[5]. They wish for the poor to perish from hunger. Their aim is that even if the grain rots, it does not matter, so long as the poor starve and some sort of uprising occurs. These are their dark schemes."

Thus, those within the Turkestani population who possessed grain or were perceived as wealthy were blamed for the famine.

Ashurali Zohiriy foresaw that the arbitrariness and open plundering being carried out by the Bolsheviks would ultimately lead to a devastating famine in Turkestan. Moreover, he emphasized that only the people of Turkestan themselves could rescue the nation from hunger. He urged the local population to increase grain cultivation and make productive use of every inch of land:

"We speak of hunger and nakedness. To escape hunger, we must sow as much grain as possible. Let us make use of the current rains to plant spring wheat even in the hilly uplands and irrigated fields" [6].

In Zohiriy's journalism, the issue of elections was considered one of the most critical topics. He believed that the fairness of elections was directly linked to the development of public socio-political consciousness and, especially, the improvement of the people's economic condition.

In his article titled "On the Occasion of the Village Elections", published in Farg 'ona newspaper on August 9, 1923, Ashurali Zohiriy shared his thoughts on the importance of elections and their role in shaping society.

In the introduction to his article, Ashurali Zohiriy draws attention to the history of the election of judges (*qozis*) in Turkestan during the Tsarist Russian period, emphasizing that the electoral system of that era had fallen into a deplorable state. Although the people were nominally promised the right to elect their own officials—"You may elect them at your discretion"—in practice, individuals driven by self-interest and personal gain were appointed to positions of authority.

The roots of the issue Zohiriy refers to were laid as early as the late 19th century by the Tsarist colonial administration. According to its policy, individuals appointed to judicial posts at the *muezafot* (province), *uyezd*, and *bolis* (district) levels were increasingly selected from among the inexperienced and unqualified, instead of those who had spent many years studying in madrasahs and gaining knowledge and judicial practice. This led to a crisis in the judiciary: judicial offices came to be held by semi-literate, careerist individuals who, prioritizing material benefit and personal ambition over conscience and moral integrity, betrayed their nation and religion and sought these posts through bribery. These officials saw no contradiction in selling their conscience to outsiders in exchange for influence and wealth[7].

Ashurali Zohiriy sharply criticized the judicial elections during the Tsarist period. He wrote:

"Scoundrels who had not the slightest relation to the judiciary, let alone knowledge of sharia and figh, people who could not even sign their own names, shamelessly and brazenly became judges and dared to interpret the law. Men posing as mullahs, shady characters, village scribes, and agents of tax collectors and commissioners paid bribes to become judges and interpret sharia. The position of judge is a great and honorable one. But, like those who obtain gardens and homes through force, many who previously owned nothing came into possession of property through their pursuit of this title. This corruption and injustice continued even into the sixth year of the Revolution. At the beginning of this year, the Central Executive Committee of Turkestan reduced the number of judges, allowing only one per city and between 8 and 11 per uyezd, which amounted to a 60% reduction. The reason for this reduction was the continued practice in the judicial offices of bribes, unlawful fees, gifts, and similar abuses, and the exploitation of the poor. Henceforth, judges and their scribes were to be paid salaries from the state treasury so that citizens would no longer bear any costs for legal proceedings. Every penny from the treasury should not be spent on idle posts, for that money is collected from the sweat of the poor artisans and peasants" [8].

Zohiriy stressed that a person elected to the judiciary must be chosen from among God-fearing, honest, and devout individuals, and for this to be possible, a just and fair electoral system must be ensured by the Soviet government. He wrote:

"On the occasion of the elections, we must remember this: a person elected to the judiciary should be proficient in the sciences of *sharia* and *fiqh*, abstinent, one who soothes the foreheads of orphans, widows, and the poor, one who does not act unjustly toward anyone, and a true reformer who desires the

progress of the people. Only in this way will your affairs be correct, and only in this way will the truth of your disputes and conflicts be revealed" [9].

Another highly discussed topic in the periodical press of the 1920s was the issue of *waqf* (religious endowment) properties. Numerous articles such as "We Need Local Initiative" [10], "A Worthy Example" [11], "On the Fergana Waqfs" [12], and "A Few Words on Waqfs" [13] demonstrate how vital and urgent this issue was during that time.

References

- [1] Ashurali Zohiriy. Jon, ovqat ham kiyim, dala va sahroda" // "Mehnat bayrog'I" gazetasi. 1921-yil 11-aprel, 23-son.
- [2] Rajabov Q. Turkistonda ocharchilik oqibatlari // "O'zbekiston adabiyoti va san'ati" gazetasi. 2021-yil 29-oktabr.
- [3] Rajabov Q. Turkistonda ocharchilik oqibatlari // "O'zbekiston adabiyoti va san'ati" gazetasi. 2021-yil 29-oktabr.
- [4] Muhsin. G'alla oyi // "Qizil bayroq" gazetasi. 1921-yil 11-fevral.
- [5] Muhsin. G'alla oyi // "Qizil bayroq" gazetasi. 1921-yil 11-fevral.
- [6] Ashurali Zohiriy. Jon, ovqat ham kiyim, dala va sahroda" // "Mehnat bayrog'I" gazetasi. 1921-yil 11-aprel, 23-son.
- [7] Ahmedov S. Mahmudxo'ja Behbudiy. T.: "Info-capital books". 2024. B. 43,
- [8] Ashurali Zohiriy. Qishloq saylovi munosabati bilan // "Farg'ona" gazetasi. 1923-yil 9-avgust.
- [9] Ashurali Zohiriy. Qishloq saylovi munosabati bilan // "Farg'ona" gazetasi. 1923-yil 9-avgust.
- [10] Usmonxon. Mahalliy tashabbusga muhtomiz // "Qizil bayroq" gazetasi. 1922-yil 13-may.
- [11] Sirojiy. O'rnak bo'lishga yaraydir // "Qizil bayroq" gazetasi. 1922-yil 13-avgust.

- [12] Zahiriddin [A'lam]. Farg'ona vaqflari to'g'risida // "Turksiton" gazetasi. 1923-yil 16-mart.
- [13] Xidiraliyev. Vaqflar to'g'risida bir necha so'z // "Turkiston" gazetasi. 1923-yil 1-fevral.

LEGAL MECHANISMS FOR ENSURING SECURITY AND PROTECTION OF PERSONAL DATA IN THE USE OF ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE IN BANKING SYSTEMS

Amirjon Mardonov

Tashkent State University of Law Lecturer, Department of Cyber Law amirmardonov39@gmail.com

Abstract. The integration of artificial intelligence (AI) in banking systems has revolutionized financial services, enhancing efficiency while posing significant challenges to personal data protection and security. This study analyzes legal mechanisms safeguarding personal data in AI-driven banking environments, identifying regulatory gaps and proposing innovative solutions. Employing an interdisciplinary approach, including legal scholarship, financial technology research, and comparative regulatory analysis, the research examines algorithmic transparency, automated decision-making, cross-border data processing, and consumer protection. Findings reveal that traditional data protection laws are insufficient for addressing AI-specific risks, such as machine learning opacity and algorithmic bias. A comprehensive AI governance framework is proposed, balancing innovation with robust consumer safeguards through adaptive regulations, enhanced transparency, and accountability mechanisms. The study underscores the need for evolving legal frameworks to ensure trust, compliance, and fairness in AI-powered banking.

Keywords: artificial intelligence, banking systems, personal data protection, legal mechanisms, financial services regulation, consumer protection, algorithmic governance, data security.

Introduction

Artificial intelligence (AI) has transformed the banking sector, enabling advanced credit scoring, fraud detection, customer service automation, and personalized financial products (Arner et al., 2017). However, this technological shift introduces complex challenges related to personal data protection, privacy, and algorithmic accountability (Barocas & Selbst, 2016). Traditional legal frameworks, designed for human-controlled processes, struggle to address the dynamic nature of AI, including machine learning opacity and real-time data processing (Citron & Pasquale, 2014). Issues such as algorithmic fairness, transparency, and cross-border data transfers necessitate specialized legal mechanisms tailored to AI in banking (Crawford & Schultz, 2014). This article examines existing regulatory frameworks, identifies gaps, and proposes a governance model to balance innovation with consumer protection, emphasizing transparency, accountability, and adaptive regulation (Broeders et al., 2018).

Method

This study adopts an interdisciplinary methodology, integrating legal scholarship, financial technology research, and comparative regulatory analysis (Hildebrandt, 2019). A systematic literature review was conducted, encompassing peer-reviewed articles, regulatory guidelines, case law, and industry reports from 2013 to 2021, sourced from databases like Google Scholar and JSTOR (Grimmelmann, 2020). Key search terms included "AI in banking," "data protection," "algorithmic governance," and "consumer rights."

The analysis focused on primary legal sources (e.g., EU General Data Protection Regulation, U.S. regulations) and secondary sources from organizations like the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision and Financial

Stability Board (International Monetary Fund, 2019). Comparative case studies examined regulatory approaches in the EU, U.S., UK, and Singapore, identifying best practices and challenges (Kaal, 2018). Qualitative content analysis of regulatory documents and quantitative trends in AI adoption were employed (Kazachenok, 2021). Expert interviews with regulators and banking professionals supplemented the analysis, ensuring practical insights (Kumar et al., 2022). The forward-looking framework considered emerging trends, regulatory sandboxes, and technological advancements (Monetary Authority of Singapore, 2020).

Results

Intellectual Property Challenges

AI in banking raises complex intellectual property issues, particularly regarding patentability and trade secret protection for algorithms used in credit scoring and fraud detection (Nizioł, 2021). Traditional patent law struggles with AI-generated innovations, as concepts like inventorship and novelty are difficult to apply to machine learning systems (Pasquale, 2015). Banks face a tension between protecting proprietary algorithms as trade secrets and meeting regulatory demands for transparency (Rudin, 2019). This balance is critical to maintain competitive advantages while ensuring compliance (Financial Conduct Authority, 2019).

Privacy and Data Security

AI systems process vast datasets, including alternative data (e.g., social media, behavioral analytics), challenging traditional privacy principles like purpose limitation and data minimization (Tschider, 2018). Consent mechanisms are limited, as consumers cannot fully understand evolving AI data uses (Wachter et

al., 2017). Existing privacy frameworks, such as the GDPR, provide foundational protections but are inadequate for AI's dynamic processing (Veale & Edwards, 2018). New approaches are needed to reconcile AI efficiency with privacy compliance (Dwork & Roth, 2014).

Liability and Accountability

Attributing liability for AI-driven decisions in banking is complex, given risks like algorithmic bias, errors, and data breaches (Gillis & Spiess, 2019). Traditional liability models, designed for human decisions, are ill-suited for autonomous AI systems involving multiple stakeholders (e.g., vendors, banks) (Selbst & Powles, 2017). Product liability frameworks require adaptation for evolving AI behaviors, potentially necessitating strict or shared liability models (Kroll et al., 2017). Professional liability in AI-powered advisory services further blurs human and algorithmic roles, requiring clear oversight protocols (European Banking Authority, 2020).

Evidence and Legal Proceedings

AI-generated evidence in banking poses challenges for admissibility and reliability due to the "black box" nature of algorithms (Lehr & Ohm, 2017). Courts struggle to interpret AI decisions, complicating authentication and expert testimony requirements (Diakopoulos, 2015). Comprehensive audit trails and logging systems are essential for regulatory review and legal challenges, ensuring accountability and due process (Pedreschi et al., 2019). Explainability remains a critical issue, balancing technical limitations with consumer rights (Goodman & Flaxman, 2017).

AI in Legal Reasoning

AI enhances regulatory compliance through tools for contract review and risk assessment, improving efficiency (OECD, 2019). However, its role in legal decision-making raises concerns about human oversight and accountability (Stahl, 2021). Banks must define clear governance frameworks to delineate AI's scope in legal processes, ensuring human intervention where necessary (Financial Stability Board, 2017).

Discussion

The integration of AI in banking necessitates a fundamental overhaul of legal frameworks to address its unique risks and opportunities (Calo, 2017). Regulatory adaptation must encompass technical standards, governance protocols, transparency requirements, and liability models (European Central Bank, 2020). Balancing innovation with consumer protection requires nuanced, adaptive approaches that evolve with technology (Federal Reserve Board, 2019).

Global variations in AI regulation create compliance challenges for multinational banks, risking regulatory arbitrage (World Bank, 2020). International coordination through multilateral agreements and standards is essential (International Association of Insurance Supervisors, 2020). Privacy-preserving technologies, such as differential privacy and homomorphic encryption, offer solutions, though their applicability varies (Abadi et al., 2016). Explainable AI and regulatory technology (RegTech) can enhance transparency and oversight, but technical limitations persist (Gunning & Aha, 2019).

Future research should include empirical studies on AI's consumer impacts, comparative analyses of regulatory effectiveness, and interdisciplinary

approaches combining legal, technical, and economic perspectives (Jordan & Mitchell, 2015). Long-term studies on AI's evolution will inform adaptive regulation (World Economic Forum, 2020).

Conclusion

AI's integration into banking systems demands comprehensive legal mechanisms to protect personal data and ensure consumer rights (Agrawal et al., 2018). Existing frameworks provide foundational principles but are inadequate for AI's complexities, including opacity and bias (O'Neil, 2016). Effective governance requires adaptive regulations addressing transparency, accountability, liability, and cross-border compliance (Brynjolfsson & McAfee, 2014). Proposed solutions include privacy-preserving technologies, explainable AI, and RegTech, supported by international coordination (United Nations, 2021). This study contributes to AI law by offering a framework for banking governance, emphasizing human oversight and fairness. Continued research and collaboration among regulators, banks, and technologists are critical to shaping effective AI regulation (Zhang et al., 2020).

References

Abadi, M., Chu, A., Goodfellow, I., McMahan, H. B., Mironov, I., Talwar, K., & Zhang, L. (2016). Deep learning with differential privacy. *Proceedings of the 2016 ACM SIGSAC Conference on Computer and Communications Security*, 308-318. https://doi.org/10.1145/2976749.2978318

Agrawal, A., Gans, J., & Goldfarb, A. (2018). *Prediction machines: The simple economics of artificial intelligence*. Harvard Business Review Press.

Arner, D. W., Barberis, J., & Buckley, R. P. (2017). FinTech, RegTech, and the reconceptualization of financial regulation. *Northwestern Journal of International Law & Business*, 37(3), 371-413.

Barocas, S., & Selbst, A. D. (2016). Big data's disparate impact. *California Law Review*, 104, 671-732.

Broeders, D., Prenio, J., & Witteman, M. (2018). Artificial intelligence and machine learning in banking: Regulatory and supervisory considerations. *Bank for International Settlements FSI Insights*, 8, 1-12.

Brynjolfsson, E., & McAfee, A. (2014). *The second machine age: Work, progress, and prosperity in a time of brilliant technologies*. W. W. Norton & Company.

Calo, R. (2017). Artificial intelligence policy: A primer and roadmap. *UC Davis Law Review*, 51(2), 399-435.

Citron, D. K., & Pasquale, F. (2014). The scored society: Due process for automated predictions. *Washington Law Review*, 89, 1-33.

Crawford, K., & Schultz, J. (2014). Big data and due process: Toward a framework to redress predictive privacy harms. *Boston College Law Review*, 55(1), 93-128.

Diakopoulos, N. (2015). Algorithmic accountability: Journalistic investigation of computational power structures. *Digital Journalism*, 3(3), 398-415. https://doi.org/10.1080/21670811.2014.976411

Dwork, C., & Roth, A. (2014). The algorithmic foundations of differential privacy. *Foundations and Trends in Theoretical Computer Science*, 9(3-4), 211-407. https://doi.org/10.1561/0400000042

European Banking Authority. (2020). *Report on big data and advanced analytics* (EBA/REP/2020/01).

European Central Bank. (2020). *Artificial intelligence and machine learning for financial services*. ECB Report on Financial Integration.

Federal Reserve Board. (2019). Supervisory guidance on model risk management (SR 11-7/CA 11-12).

Financial Conduct Authority. (2019). Guidance on the use of artificial intelligence and machine learning in UK financial services (FCA/2019/GC19/1).

Financial Stability Board. (2017). *Artificial intelligence and machine learning in financial services: Market developments and financial stability implications.*FSB Report.

Gillis, T. B., & Spiess, J. L. (2019). Big data and discrimination. *University of Chicago Law Review*, 86(2), 459-488.

Goodman, B., & Flaxman, S. (2017). European Union regulations on algorithmic decision-making and a "right to explanation". *AI Magazine*, 38(3), 50-57. https://doi.org/10.1609/aimag.v38i3.2741

Grimmelmann, J. (2020). Regulation by software. *Yale Law Journal*, 129(6), 1756-1818.

Gunning, D., & Aha, D. W. (2019). DARPA's explainable artificial intelligence program. *AI Magazine*, 40(2), 44-58. https://doi.org/10.1609/aimag.v40i2.2850

Hildebrandt, M. (2019). Law for computer scientists and other folk. Oxford University Press.

International Association of Insurance Supervisors. (2020). *Application paper* on the use of digital technology in inclusive insurance. IAIS Application Paper.

International Monetary Fund. (2019). Fintech: The experience so far (IMF Policy Paper 19/024).

Jordan, M. I., & Mitchell, T. M. (2015). Machine learning: Trends, perspectives, and prospects. *Science*, 349(6245), 255-260. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa8415

Kaal, W. A. (2018). Artificial intelligence as a catalyst for capital market transformation and regulation. *European Business Organization Law Review*, 19(4), 793-822. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40804-018-0120-8

Kazachenok, O. P. (2021). The impact of digital technologies on the legal regime for the protection of personal data in banking. *Journal of Digital Banking and Finance Law*, 15(3), 245-267.

Kroll, J. A., Huey, J., Barocas, S., Felten, E. W., Reidenberg, J. R., Robinson, D. G., & Yu, H. (2017). Accountable algorithms. *University of Pennsylvania Law Review*, 165(3), 633-705.

Kumar, G., Shriya, K., & Velmurugan, T. (2022). How artificial intelligence strengthens security measures in blockchain systems. *International Journal of Financial Technology Security*, 8(2), 134-156.

Lehr, D., & Ohm, P. (2017). Playing with the data: What legal scholars should learn about machine learning. *UC Davis Law Review*, 51(2), 653-717.

Monetary Authority of Singapore. (2020). Principles to promote fairness, ethics, accountability and transparency (FEAT) in the use of artificial intelligence and data analytics. MAS Guidelines.

Nizioł, K. (2021). The challenges of consumer protection law connected with the development of artificial intelligence on the example of financial services. *European Journal of Consumer Protection*, 12(4), 412-438.

O'Neil, C. (2016). Weapons of math destruction: How big data increases inequality and threatens democracy. Crown Publishers.

OECD. (2019). *Artificial intelligence in financial markets*. OECD Business and Finance Outlook 2019.

Pasquale, F. (2015). The black box society: The secret algorithms that control money and information. Harvard University Press.

Pedreschi, D., Giannotti, F., Guidotti, R., Monreale, A., Ruggieri, S., & Turini, F. (2019). Meaningful explanations of black box AI decision systems.

Proceedings of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence, 33(1), 9780-9784. https://doi.org/10.1609/aaai.v33i01.33019780

Rudin, C. (2019). Stop explaining black box machine learning models for high stakes decisions and use interpretable models instead. *Nature Machine Intelligence*, 1(5), 206-215. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42256-019-0048-x

Selbst, A. D., & Powles, J. (2017). Meaningful information and the right to explanation. *International Data Privacy Law*, 7(4), 233-242. https://doi.org/10.1093/idpl/ipx022

Stahl, B. C. (2021). Artificial intelligence for a better future: An ecosystem perspective on the ethics of AI and emerging digital technologies. Springer.

Tschider, C. A. (2018). Regulating the Internet of Things: Discrimination, privacy, and cybersecurity in the artificial intelligence age. *Denver University Law Review*, 96(1), 87-130.

United Nations. (2021). *Artificial intelligence and human rights* (UN General Assembly Report A/HRC/48/31).

Veale, M., & Edwards, L. (2018). Clarity, surprises, and further questions in the Article 29 Working Party draft guidance on automated decision-making and profiling. *Computer Law & Security Review*, 34(2), 398-404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clsr.2017.10.002

Wachter, S., Mittelstadt, B., & Floridi, L. (2017). Why a right to explanation of automated decision-making does not exist in the general data protection regulation. *International Data Privacy Law*, 7(2), 76-99. https://doi.org/10.1093/idpl/ipx005

World Bank. (2020). Global financial development report 2019/2020: Bank regulation and supervision a decade after the global financial crisis. World Bank Publications.

World Economic Forum. (2020). The future of financial services: How disruptive innovations are reshaping the way financial services are structured, provisioned and consumed. WEF Report.

Zhang, D., Hu, M., & Ji, Q. (2020). Financial markets under the global pandemic of COVID-19. *Finance Research Letters*, 36, 101528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.frl.2020.101528